# FILEDFILEDCourt of AppealsSUPREME COURTDivision II7/26/2022State of Washington7/26/2022T/26/2022 11:59 AMCLERKNO. 55475-5COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION IISTATE OF WASHINGTON101115-6

SEATTLE EVENTS, a Washington Nonprofit Corporation, MULTIVERSE HOLDINGS, LLC, a Washington LLC, and UNIVERSAL HOLDINGS, LLC, a Washington LLC,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, THE WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD (WSLCB), et al.

Respondents.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Fred Diamondstone, WSBA #7138 2311 N 45th St., #204 Seattle, WA 98103

Douglas Hiatt, WSBA #21017 2100 Third Ave., Ste. 104 Seattle, WA 98121

(206) 568-0082

(206) 412-8807

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Seattle Events, a non-profit corporation and marijuana law reform advocacy group, and two "I-502" licensed cannabis businesses, Multiverse Holdings and Universal Holdings (hereafter "Multiverse" and "Universal").

#### **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Court of Appeals decision in *Seattle Events v. State*, No. 55475-5-II (June 28, 2022) is attached.

#### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED**

- Does Article I, §5 of Washington's Constitution require more protective analysis for commercial speech than the First Amendment, respecting content-based restrictions on non-deceptive advertising that does not involve obscenity? (RAP 13.4(3) and (4))
- Should this Court finally conduct a *Gunwall*<sup>1</sup> analysis respecting non-deceptive advertising under Article I, §5's right to speak freely? (RAP 13.4(3) and (4))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

- 3. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously refuse to apply strict or heightened scrutiny to disparate content-based restrictions on advertising, contrary to *City of Lakewood v. Willis*, 186 Wn.2d 210, 375 P.3d 1056 (2016)? (RAP 13.4(b)(3))
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the legislative record was sufficient to satisfy *Central Hudson's<sup>2</sup>* third and fourth steps to support restrictions on commercial speech? (RAP 13.4(b)(3))

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Facts.

#### 1. Restrictions on Truthful Cannabis Advertising.

Universal and Multiverse operate licensed marijuana businesses. CP 52. Both participated at Seattle Hempfest and supported messages for reform, to end "prison for pot," and support for those imprisoned for marijuana crimes. CP 53-57, 396-99 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n. of New York, 447 U.S. 557, 100 S. Ct. 2343, 65 L. Ed. 2d 341 (1980).

406. As 502 licensees, they cannot advertise at Seattle Hempfest. (Admin. Bull. 19-01, CP 41-42, superseded by Admin. Bull. 19-03, CP 166-67) As licensed marijuana retailers, they are restricted in advertising to a far greater degree than alcohol retailers. CP 403-04, 411-40. Compare, RCW 66.08.060 [alcohol] and RCW 69.50.369 [marijuana]; WAC 314-52-070 [alcohol] and WAC 314-55-155 [marijuana]).

Marijuana businesses are barred from outdoor advertising within 1,000 feet of schools, playgrounds, parks, recreation centers, child-care centers, libraries, and game arcades that admit persons under 21 per RCW 69.50.369(1) and WAC 314-55-155(1)(b)(i), as well as at arenas, stadiums, shopping malls, statesupported fairs, farmers' markets and video-game arcades (other than adult-only facilities). RCW 69.50.369(7)(b)(i) and WAC 314-55-155(2)(c). Outdoor liquor advertising, on the other hand, is allowed without restriction, unless the administrative body of a school, church, or public playground objects, in which case the restriction is 500 feet, half the distance for marijuana. WAC 31452-070. The provision for liquor does not extend to parks without playgrounds or athletic fields. CP 105. Nor does WAC 314-52-070 bar outdoor advertising at arenas, stadiums, shopping malls, state-supported fairs, farmers' markets or video arcades.

Similarly, restrictions on signs at retail marijuana stores allow half that permitted at liquor stores. Cf. WAC 314-55-155(2)(a) (two signs limited to 1600 square inches each, for marijuana) and WAC 314-52-070(2) (four signs limited to 1600 square inches each, for alcohol).

The WSLCB's Seattle map shows how wide the overlapping 1,000-foot zones are and how small the pockets beyond 1,000 feet are. CP 415-19. For example, Seattle's downtown core is off limits. *Id*.

The record shows WSLCB uses these restrictions to prevent licensees from sponsoring a rodeo under its business name if its name would be on a t-shirt. CP 421-25, esp. at 425. Under superseding Administrative Bulletin 19-03, WSLCB prevented another licensee from advertising in a Fair and Rodeo Guide and limited sponsorship listing to name, address and phone, without any slogan. CP 427-30. Another licensee was prevented from participating in a college job fair. CP 432-34.

WSLCB records reveal these restrictions and staff interpretations thwarted the *Spokesman-Review's* effort to host a community educational event, Evercannafest. CP 436-40.

#### 2. These Restrictions Impact Hempfest.

Seattle Hempfest is the premier advocacy event of its type. Over 28 years through 2019, this annual "protestival" came to attract over 100,000 attendees over a three-day weekend. Hempfest is a gathering of activists, including elected officials, to discuss law reform, campaign to make marijuana law enforcement's lowest criminal law priority, promote medical and recreational marijuana legalization, promote banking law reform affecting the industry, and advocate for release of marijuana prisoners. CP 43-45, 52-56, 62-65, 69-72, 397-98 and 406.

Seattle and the Port of Seattle impose strict conditions on Seattle Events' park use. CP 43-49, 62-63 and 75-120. As a free speech event, Hempfest cannot charge admission and depends entirely on vendor income, donations and sponsorships. CP 43-49 and 62. Permits impose substantial obligations for public health and safety. CP 47, 62-63, and 75-120. With annual weekend attendance of 100,000 at this Art. I, §4 assembly, CP 62 and 122-25, annual costs from 2013 to 2019 ranged between \$625,000 and \$924,000. CP 46, 408.

Even though WSLCB retracted its ban on licensee signage of any kind at Hempfest in response to this lawsuit, when WSLCB replaced Administrative Bulletin 19-01 with superseding Bulletin 19-03, CP 41-42 and 161-67, the state's restrictions on outdoor advertising substantially interfere with Seattle Events' ability to produce this "protestival." CP 43-49, 61-125 and 407-09. As a result of these bulletins, participation by I-502 licensees fell in 2019. *Id*.

Enforcement of the challenged statutory restrictions on outdoor advertising following the legislature's 2017 amendments to RCW 69.50.369 substantially inhibited sponsorships from I-502 licensees. The reduction of sponsorship and other income from licensed cannabis businesses from 2018 to 2019 was \$52,279 and over \$100,000 from 2016 to 2019. CP at 47, 408. Reduced income from I-502 businesses reduces Seattle Events' future capacity to stage this "protestival." *Id*.

#### **3.** The Legislative Record Fails to Establish that These Advertising Restrictions Inhibit Youth Use.

In 2017, the legislature broadened I-502's prohibition on advertising within 1,000 feet of schools, parks, etc. to a prohibition on "*any sign or* advertising." (*emphasis added*.) Laws of 2017, ch. 317 §14. CP 305. The state's justifications for the 1,000-foot restriction – to prevent marijuana use by those under age 21 – are supported by conjecture and speculation, not evidence. CP 305-07, 444-47.

Appellants do not challenge amelioration of youth use as a valid state interest. CP 229-30, 451-53. However, the legislature, as well as the voters in 2012, set limitations without evidence or data that these are reasonable and necessary or that they materially or directly serve state interests.

The state's support for these restrictions relies on the 2017 legislative history. CP 305-07. Yet neither Sen. Rivers' testimony before the House Commerce and Gaming Committee (https://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2017031214, at 23:58-25:57, accessed May 11, 2020), nor Seth Dawson's testimony, id., at 26:56-28:20, addressed whether or how the 1,000-foot restriction and other restrictions on signage and advertising in RCW 69.50.369(1) and (7)(b) and (e) serve the interest of protecting minors. CP 445. Nor did their testimony address differential treatment afforded to beer, wine or liquor, an issue participant.<sup>3</sup> raised by industry one https://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2017031214, Philip Dawdy testimony, at 55:33-57:05. CP 445.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The record is far more compelling respecting harms related to advertising and youth use of alcohol. CP 279-93.

The state's claim that industry advocates supported the advertising restrictions at issue is misleading. CP 306. For example, Respondents cited Ezra Eickmeyer's April 1, 2017 testimony that the bill "clarifies what those rules are for billboards."<sup>4</sup> His testimony in no way addressed the 1,000-foot rule or other store and trade-event related signs at issue. Nor did he address extending the legislation to "any sign or advertising." (Emphasis added.) Eickmeyer's testimony was followed by Dawdy's in support of restrictions on "sign spinners and wavy blowy things," as well as "pot leaves on billboards" that led to community "blowback."<sup>5</sup> Dawdy also supported restrictions targeted towards advertising to out-of-state residents. Neither addressed the 1,000-foot provision, signs inside store windows, or signs at trade event sites. Nor did either witness, or any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>https://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2017041000</u> at 1:32:04-51 (accessed May 11, 2020). CP 445.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>https://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2017041000</u>, at 1:32:52–1:34:08 (accessed May 11, 2020). CP 445.

legislative history cited by Respondents, address the entirely conclusory legislative findings<sup>6</sup> and restrictions challenged, here. CP 445-46.

In summary, the legislature's findings are unsupported by evidence before the legislature respecting the issues, nor by academic studies, nor experience in other jurisdictions. Nor do these findings address whether these restrictions are more extensive than necessary to protect youth, nor whether they directly and materially serve that end.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "The legislature finds that protecting the state's children, youth, and young adults under the legal age to purchase and consume marijuana, by establishing limited restrictions on the advertising of marijuana and marijuana products, is necessary to assist the state's efforts to discourage and prevent underage consumption and the potential risks associated with underage consumption. The legislature finds that these restrictions assist the state in maintaining a strong and effective regulatory and enforcement system as specified by the federal government. The legislature finds this act leaves ample opportunities for licensed marijuana businesses to market their products to those who are of legal age to purchase them, without infringing on the free speech rights of business owners. Finally, the legislature finds that the state has a substantial and compelling interest in enacting this act aimed at protecting Washington's children, youth, and young adults." [2017 c 317 § 12.]

Notes following RCW 69.50.325.

Respondents cite studies not in the legislative record, apparently recognizing the paucity of support in the legislative record. CP 249-301. These also fall short. Respondents cite a subsequent 2018 RAND Corporation study which states:

> Recent high quality epidemiological studies have examined changes in overall marijuana use rates among adolescents before and after passage of medical marijuana legislation laws in an attempt to determine whether marijuana use rates have increased, decreased, or stayed the same following legalization. *Due to heterogeneity across studies (e.g., national versus single state) and nuances in policy, there is no definitive conclusion.*

D'Amico, et al., "Planting the seed for marijuana use," 188 *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 385-91, at 385 (2018) (*emphasis added*, citations omitted). CP 271-77, at 271. That article further

recognizes:

As the data indicated, there is great variability in exposure to MM [Medical Marijuana] ads, use, cognitions, and consequences, which is likely due to the fact that other factors are associated with these constructs, such as parental monitoring, peer use, or where an adolescent may live. Future work could begin to examine how these factors, along with advertising, may affect these associations over time. In addition, we cannot draw conclusions from this study about the reciprocal exposure to MM ads with marijuana use and related cognitions.

*Id.* CP at 276. A 2019 study discussed in the state's Motion,<sup>7</sup> CP 295-301 and 307, addresses social media advertising and promotions, *not* advertising visible from streets and sidewalks 1,000 feet from schools, parks, etc. Yet social media and internet advertising are unregulated under RCW 69.50.369, except for appeals to children through cartoon characters, etc. Appellants do not challenge those restrictions.

#### B. Procedure.

The Superior Court decided this case in the state's favor on cross-motions for summary judgment. Appellants sought review in this Court. The case was transferred to Division 2, which affirmed the Superior Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Trangenstein, et al., "Active cannabis marketing and adolescent past-year use," 204 *Drug and Alcohol Dep.* 107548 (2019).

#### V. ARGUMENT

# A. Review Should Be Granted Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

Division 2 of the Court of Appeals failed to heed – or even acknowledge – this Court's lead opinion's cautionary footnote in *Kitsap County v. Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d 506, 511 n.1, 104 P.3d 1280 (2005), respecting the unsettled nature of the question whether the Washington Constitution's protection for nondeceptive commercial speech affords greater protection than the First Amendment.<sup>8</sup> Accordingly, Division 2's explicit declination to consider Petitioner's lengthy *Gunwall* analysis, involving an issue of "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" was erroneous. RAP 2.5(a); *City of Woodinville v. Northshore United Church of Christ*, 166 Wn.2d 633, 211 P.3d 406 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> That footnote states: "Although our state constitution may be more protective of free speech than the federal constitution, it is unnecessary to consider a state constitutional analysis because KCC 17.445.070(C) fails the minimum protection provided under the federal constitution."

The Court of Appeals committed further error by failing to follow this Court's analysis in *City of Lakewood v. Willis*, 186 Wn.2d 210, 224-26, 375 P.3d 1056 (2016), which reversed Division 2 due to Lakewood's content-based restriction of certain speech compared to other, favored speech.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' deference to legislative findings respecting greater restrictions on marijuana advertising than on alcohol advertising disregards settled law with respect to the requirement that evidence support those findings. *Lorillard Tobacco v. Reilly*, 533 U.S. 525, 121 S.Ct. 2404, 150 L.Ed.2d 532 (2001) and *Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d at 513-15.

Review should be granted to finally resolve whether Washington's constitution affords greater protection for nondeceptive commercial speech that does not implicate obscenity, as well as to guide the legislature respecting the requirement that evidence support legislative findings when the right to speak freely is restricted. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

#### B. This Court Has Yet to Fully Consider Art. I, §5 in a Case that Involves Non-Deceptive Advertising and No *Gunwall* Analysis Has Been Conducted in Such a Case.

This Court routinely reviews constitutional issues under Washington's constitution, first. *Pers. Restraint of Williams*, 198 Wn.2d 342, 353, 496 P.3rd 289 (2021).

# 1. Prior Cases Have Not Squarely Addressed the Issue.

The Court of Appeals erroneously considered this question settled, citing *National Fed. of Retired Persons v. Insur. Commissioner*, 120 Wn.2d 101, 838 P.2d 680 (1992), *Ino Ino v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wn.2d 103, 937 P.2d 154 (1997), and *State v. Living Essentials, LLC*, 8 Wn.App.2d 1, 436 P.3d 857 (2019). That conclusion is thrice flawed.

*National Federation* involved insurance solicitations by an unregistered company, a deceptive practice. This Court considered the commercial speech issue, despite National Federation's failure to assign error, *id.* at 117, and conducted a First Amendment, *Central Hudson* analysis respecting the Commissioner's regulations re: fraudulent solicitations. *Id.* at 117-18. This Court recognized "Washington case law provides no clear rule for constitutional restrictions on commercial speech," cited an obscenity case for the proposition that Washington's Constitution provided no stronger protection for obscene speech than the federal constitution, and extended that holding without any reasoning, nor *any Gunwall* analysis. *Id.* at 119.

*Ino Ino* involved a challenge to municipal regulation of nude or sexually explicit dancing, 'speech' that "clings to the edge" of constitutional protection. 132 Wn.2d at 118. This Court recognized Art. I, §5 provides broader protection for speech in some contexts, but not obscenity, citing *State v. Reece*, 110 Wn.2d 766, 757 P.2d 947 (1988). 132 Wn.2d 118-19. Still, this Court rightly conducted a *Gunwall* analysis. Significantly, despite its then-recent rulings in *Reece* and in *JJR, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 126 Wn.2d 1, 891 P.2d 720 (1995), this Court recognized the fifth factor and structural differences between the two constitutions "reinforces this court's responsibility to engage in independent state analysis and afford broader protection when necessary." 132 Wn.2d at 121. This Court then closely examined the different contexts implicated, both with respect to prior restraint and time, place and manner restrictions. This is the contextual analysis that the Court of Appeals failed to do in this case, which involves entirely different contexts and analysis than *National Federation, Ino Ino* and *Living Essentials*.

*Living Essentials* was a consumer protection case that involved deceptive advertising. There, as here, the Court of Appeals relied on *National Federation* and *Ino Ino* and declined to conduct any *Gunwall* analysis. The open question identified by this Court in footnote 1 of its lead opinion in *Mattress Outlet* remains open and should finally be addressed with a *Gunwall* analysis of truthful advertising not involving obscenity.  Art. I, §5 Provides Broader Protection for Free Speech Involving Non-deceptive Advertising.

 a) This Court's Prior Decisions Establish That Washington Broadly Protects Free Speech.

Washington's Constitution more broadly protects political and issue-oriented free speech, as well as truthful news reports, than the First Amendment. Bering v. SHARE, 106 Wn.2d 212, 233-34, 721 P.3d 918 (1986) (Time, place and manner restrictions on protestors can be limited on a showing of compelling state interest, rather than a substantial state interest); State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 364, 679 P.2d 353 (1984) (Gag order barring news reports was unlawful prior restraint), citing Alderwood Assoc. v. Washington Envt'l Council, 96 Wn.2d 230, 244, 635 P.2d 108 (1981). Washington joined other states such as California, Arizona and New Jersey which recognize that the right to speak freely under state constitutions provides broader protections than the First Amendment. Cf. State v. Coe 101 Wn.2d at 376-78; Utter, The Right to Speak, Write and Publish Freely; State Constitutional Protection Against Private

Abridgment, 8 U. Puget Sound. L. Rev. 157 at 166-71 (1985).

Whether Washington's right to speak freely provides broader protection than the First Amendment involves an "inquiry [that] must focus on the on the specific context in which the state constitutional challenge is raised." *Ino Ino*, 132 Wn.2d at 115. The California Supreme Court, interpreting its constitution, reached a similar conclusion. *Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Mgt., LLC*, 58 Cal. 4th 329, 341-46, 315 P.3d 71, 79-82, 165 Cal. Rptr. 800, 809-13 (2013).

> b) The *Gunwall* Factors Support Broader Protection for Truthful Advertising Under Art. I, §5 than the First Amendment.

The six *Gunwall* factors were briefed to Division 2.

1. The textual language.

The broad language that "[e]very person may freely speak, write and publish on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right" is more protective with respect to political and issueoriented speech. *Bering v. SHARE*, 106 Wn.2d at 234; *Collier v. Tacoma*, 121 Wn.2d 737, 747-48, 854 P.2d 1046 (1993). In 1889, newspaper advertising was common. For example, the *Yakima Herald* issue of August 8, 1889, which had a story headlined "Grateful for Our Liberties" concerning the adoption of the Washington Constitution Preamble, contained numerous front page advertisements for attorneys, physicians, engineers, and other services, including a bank, a builder, welldigging, a meat market, etc. (Appendix II).

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