FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/24/2022 4:31 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101115-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SEATTLE EVENTS, a Washington Nonprofit Corporation, MULTIVERSE HOLDINGS, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company, and UNIVERSAL HOLDINGS, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Petitioners,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, The WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD (WSLCB), an agency of the State of Washington and the members of the WSLCB, JANE RUSHFORD, OLLIE GARRETT, RUSS HAUGE, in their official capacities only, and RICK GARZA, Director of the WSLCB, in his official capacity, only,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's longstanding and unambiguous pronouncements that article I, section 5 of the Washington Constitution affords no greater protections than the First Amendment to the United States Constitution to commercial speech. It also properly rejected Petitioners' argument that strict rather than intermediate scrutiny

applies to Washington's cannabis advertising laws and found that those laws satisfy the four-part test under *Central Hudson*. While the nature of this particular commercial speech—advertising for decriminalized cannabis—may be novel, there is nothing novel about the Court's analysis or the law it applied. Accordingly, there is no need for this Court's further review.

Petitioners are either confused about the clear holdings from this Court and others, or intentionally try to obscure their meaning. Either way, there is no significant question of constitutional law for this Court to resolve, because what constitutional standard and what level of scrutiny apply to commercial speech restrictions has long been settled by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3). *Nat'l Fed'n. of Retired Persons v. Insurance Comm'r.*, 120 Wn.2d 101, 119, 838 P.2d 680 (1992); *Ino Ino v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wn.2d 103, 116, 937 P.2d 154 (1997) (plurality opinion) ("The federal analysis also applies when confronting art. I, §5 challenges to regulations of commercial speech."). The Court of Appeals correctly

recognized that "our Supreme Court has already determined that the federal constitutional analysis applies to commercial speech claims made under article I, section 5." Slip. Op. at 11.

The Petition also fails to articulate a matter of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(4). While it is possible that *invalidating* these statutes would be of substantial public import—by exposing Washington's children to unfettered advertising for marijuana, contrary to the People's and Legislature's intent—the Court of Appeals' opinion upholding the constitutionality of the laws is not. The Court's decision was thorough, well-reasoned, and correct. Further review is unnecessary.

A. Petitioners Did Not Raise the State Constitutional Question in the Trial Court

In the trial court, Petitioners did not argue that the state constitution provides broader protection for commercial speech than the U.S. Constitution. Slip. Op. 9 n.14; CP 361-85, 541-50. On appeal, the State argued that the Court of Appeals should

refuse to reach the state constitutional question, per RAP 2.5(a)(3). Resp'ts' Br. 11-12. Although the Court looked "with disfavor on a party taking a contrary position on appeal than that argued below," the Court nevertheless reached the question because the State had not argued that "judicial estoppel" precluded it. Slip Op. 9-10 n.14. As Petitioners have never asserted a manifest constitutional error exception to the general rule that issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, RAP 2.5(a)(3), this Court should refuse to accept review of the state constitutional question.

B. The Court of Appeals Followed Long-Settled Law That Article I, § 5 Does Not Provide Broader Protection than the First Amendment to Commercial Speech

Since at least 1992, this Court has held that article I, section 5 of the Washington Constitution does not afford greater protection to commercial speech than does the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. In *National Federation of Retired Persons v. Insurance Commissioner*, 120 Wn.2d 101, 838 P.2d

680 (1992), this Court evaluated the constitutionality of a license requirement to engage in insurance solicitation, which the Court deemed to be commercial speech. This Court concluded that the "interpretative guidelines under the federal constitution" applied to the constitutionality of the commercial speech restrictions, and evaluated the licensing requirement under the *Central Hudson* test. *Nat'l Fed'n of Retired Persons*, 120 Wn.2d at 119.

Five years later, this Court upheld the constitutionality of various restrictions on sexually explicit dancing. *Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wn.2d 103, 116, 937 P.2d 154 (1997). It explained that "Const. art. I, § 5 has been interpreted to offer greater protection than the First Amendment in the context of *pure noncommercial speech in a traditional public forum.*" *Ino Ino, Inc.*, 132 Wn.2d at 118 (emphasis added) (citing *Collier v. City of Tacoma*, 121 Wn.2d 737, 747, 854 P.2d 1046 (1993)

⁶ Three justices concurred in the plurality opinion of four justices. They wrote separately only to dissent on the issue of attorney fees.

(political speech on streets and sidewalks), and *Bering v. Share*, 106 Wn.2d 212, 233-34, 721 P.2d 918 (1986) (abortion clinic protest on city streets and sidewalks)). "In other contexts, however, this court has followed the federal standard when evaluating time, place, and manner restrictions." *Id.* (citing *City* of Seattle v. Huff, 111 Wn.2d 923, 767 P.2d 572 (1989) (telephone harassment ordinance afforded no greater protection); State v. Reece, 110 Wn.2d 766, 757 P.2d 947 (1998) (obscenity afforded no greater protection); and Nat'l Fed'n of Retired Persons, 120 Wn.2d 101 (commercial speech afforded no greater protection). It explicitly noted that "[t]he federal analysis also applies when confronting art. I, § 5 challenges to regulations of commercial speech." Id. at 116 (citing Nat'l Fed'n of Retired Persons, 120 Wn.2d at 119).

In 2005, the Court declined to consider whether a *Gunwall* analysis was necessary to evaluate the constitutionality of city's permit requirement for almost all off-site commercial signs, because the law failed even the minimum speech protections of

the federal constitution. *Kitsap Cty. v. Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d 506, 511 n.1, 104 P.3d 1280 (2005). But in rejecting a requested *Gunwall* analysis, the dissent—which would have held that the permitting ordinance satisfied the *Central Hudson* test—stated, "this court has determined that the analysis for assessing the constitutionality of restrictions on commercial speech is the same under the state constitution as under the First Amendment." *Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d at 519 n.1 (Madsen, J. Dissenting) (citing *Ino Ino, Inc. v. Bellevue*, 132 Wn.2d at 116; *Nat'l Fed'n of Retired Persons*, 120 Wn.2d at 119)).

More recently, this Court has reaffirmed that "no greater protection is afforded [under art. I, sec. 5] to obscenity, speech in nonpublic forums, *commercial speech*, and false or defamatory statements." *Bradburn v. N. Cent. Reg'l Library Dist.*, 168 Wn.2d 789, 800, 231 P.3d 166 (2010) (citing *Ino Ino, Inc.*, 132 Wn.2d at 116) (emphasis added).

So it is not an "open question," as Petitioners contend, whether the federal speech protections apply to Washington commercial speech restrictions. That question is well-settled.

In an attempt to obscure these clear rulings, Petitioners claim that the article I, section 5 question is resolved only as to misleading speech and obscenity (Pet. at 14, 16-17); misread a single, innocuous footnote in the plurality opinion in *Mattress* Outlet (Pet. at 13, 17); and conflate the first prong of the Central Hudson test with the question of whether Central Hudson applies at all. Pet. at 15-17. But as shown, the question is resolved as to commercial speech generally. Nat'l Fed'n of Retired Persons, 120 Wn.2d at 119; Ino Ino, Inc., 132 Wn.2d at 118; Mattress Outlet/Gould, 153 Wn.2d at 519 n.1 (Madsen, J., dissenting); Bradburn, 168 Wn.2d at 800. The footnote in Mattress Outlet's plurality opinion merely dismisses the suggestion that a Gunwall analysis was warranted, because the speech restrictions there did not even meet the minimum federal constitutional protections. Mattress Outlet/Gould, 153 Wn.2d at 511 n.1 ("Although our state constitution may be more protective of free speech than the federal constitution, it is unnecessary to consider a state constitutional analysis because KCC 17.445.070(C) fails the minimum protection provided under the federal constitution.").

And the contention that the Court has not considered what test should apply to "non-deceptive advertising" confuses the first prong of the *Central Hudson* test—whether the speech concerns a lawful activity and is not misleading—with a need to compare the text of article I, section 5 to the First Amendment. No such comparison is needed here, because this Court has already determined that article I, section 5 does not provide broader commercial speech protection than the First Amendment does.

Unlike the Petitioners, lower Washington courts are not confused by this Court's commercial speech precedent. Division One understands that the "Supreme Court's decisive language that we are to apply the four-part test from *Central Hudson* remains binding authority on this court." *State v. Living*

Essentials, LLC, 8 Wn. App. 2d 1, 24, 436 P.3d 857 (2019). In rejecting a requested Gunwall analysis, it recognized, "our Supreme Court has already answered that question regarding commercial speech." Id. at 23. And, in rejecting Petitioners' contention that the Washington Constitution provides greater protection to commercial speech, Division Two stated, "our Supreme Court has already determined that the federal constitutional analysis applies to commercial speech claims made under article I, section 5." Slip Op. 11 (citing National Federation and Ino Ino). Thus additional guidance from this Court is unnecessary. Indeed, this Court denied further review of Living Essentials, 193 Wn.2d 1040 (2019), and the U.S. Supreme Court denied certiorari, 141 S. Ct. 234 (Oct. 5, 2020). The Court should deny review of this case, too.

⁷ The U.S. District Court also understands that this Court "has long held that the free speech clause contained in contained in article I, section 5 of the Washington Constitution does not afford any greater protection to commercial speech than does the First Amendment." *Dex Media W., Inc. v. City of Seattle*, C10-1857JLR, 2011 WL 4352121, *5 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 16, 2011).

C. Intermediate Scrutiny Applies to the Challenged Commercial Speech Restrictions

Because the federal constitutional analysis applies to commercial speech restrictions, Washington applies the four-part test the U.S. Supreme Court established in *Central Hudson* to determine whether the restrictions are permissible. *See, e.g., Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d at 512-15 (applying *Central Hudson* to commercial speech restrictions); *Nat'l Fed'n of Retired Persons*, 120 Wn.2d at 118-19 (same). This entails an intermediate level of scrutiny. *Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp.*, 447 U.S. at 566. The Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioners' argument that strict scrutiny applies. *Seattle Events*, Slip Op. 11-14.

Contrary to Petitioners' contention, a reference to "heightened scrutiny" in *Sorrell v. IMS Health Inc.*, 564 U.S. 552, 559-560, 131 S. Ct. 2653, 180 L. Ed. 2d 544 (2011), which evaluated a law prohibiting the sale, disclosure, and use of certain pharmacy records for marketing purposes but allowed it for

others, did "not change the commercial speech analysis that should be applied here." *Seattle Events*, Slip Op. 13. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the U.S. Supreme Court held the commercial speech restrictions at issue were both content- and speaker-based, thus requiring a "heightened scrutiny." *Id.* (citing *Sorrell*, 564 U.S. at 565). But "[t]he 'heightened scrutiny' applied by the Court was the *Central Hudson* test." *Id.* (citing *Sorrell*, 564 U.S. at 572 ("the State must show at least that the statute *directly advances a substantial governmental interest and that the measure is drawn to achieve that interest.*" (citing *Central Hudson*, 477 U.S. at 566)).

As the Ninth Circuit later clarified, "Sorrell did not modify the Central Hudson standard." Retail Digital Networks, LLC v. Prieto, 861 F.3d 839, 841 (9th Cir. 2017). Indeed, Sorrell was not the first time "the Court has referred to intermediate scrutiny as 'heightened' scrutiny"; rather the use of the term "heightened scrutiny" was merely intended "to distinguish from rational basis review." Id. at 847. Therefore, "Sorrell did not mark a

fundamental departure from *Central Hudson*'s four-factor test, and *Central Hudson* continues to apply." *Id.* at 846; accord R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. FDA, 696 F.3d 1205, 1226 n.4 (D.C. Cir. 2012) ("Notwithstanding any intimations it may have made in cases such as *Sorrell v. IMS Health Inc.*, . . . the Supreme Court has continued to apply the more deferential framework of *Central Hudson* to commercial speech restrictions."); *Vugo, Inc. v. City of New York*, 931 F.3d 42 (9th Cir. 2019); *Missouri Broadcasters Ass'n v. Lacy*, 846 F.3d 295, 300 n.5 (8th Cir. 2017); *Flying Dog Brewery, LLLP v. Michigan Liquor Control Comm'n*, 597 F. App'x 342, 365 (6th Cir. 2015).

Thus even when commercial speech regulations are characterized as content-based, it is still *Central Hudson*'s intermediate scrutiny that applies. *1-800-411-Pain Referral Service, LLC v.* Otto, 744 F.3d 1045, 1055 (8th Cir. 2014) ("The upshot is that when a court determines commercial speech restrictions are content- or speaker-based, it should then assess their constitutionality under *Central Hudson.*"); *United States v.*

Caronia, 703 F.3d 149, 180 (2d Cir. 2012) (Livingston, J., dissenting) ("Every commercial speech case, by its very nature, involves both content- and speaker-based speech restrictions.").

Which makes Petitioners' argument that the cannabis advertising restrictions are content-based because they apply only to advertisements about cannabis, and not alcohol—requiring strict scrutiny review—off base. Importantly, Petitioners have never cited any authority holding that a State must impose the same advertising restrictions on one product as it does another.⁸ And they ignore that courts have analyzed restrictions on alcohol advertising under *Central Hudson*, that apply only to alcohol. *E.g., Retail Digital Networks, LLC v. Prieto*, 861 F.3d 839, 841 (9th Cir. 2017); *Anheuser-Busch, Inc. v. Schmoke*, 101 F.3d 325 (4th Cir. 1996).

⁸ The Sixth and Ninth Circuit cases that Petitioners cite in passing are inapplicable: both dealt with prohibitions on *modes* of communication, with exemptions for specific types of messages or speakers. Pet. at 30 (citing *International Outdoor, Inc. v. Troy*, 974 F.3d 690 (6th Cir. 2020); *Boyer v. Simi Valley*, 978 F.3d 618 (9th Cir. 2020)).

The Court of Appeals also properly rejected Petitioners' reliance on City of Lakewood v. Willis, 186 Wn.2d 210, 375 P.3d 1056 (2016), and Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155, 135 S. Ct. 2218, 192 L. Ed. 2d 236 (2015). Seattle Events, Slip Op. 13. City of Lakewood involved an "anti-begging" ordinance, and Reed concerned restrictions for political, ideological, and temporary event signs. As the Court noted, "These cases did not concern restrictions on commercial speech specifically or include a commercial speech analysis and, therefore, are unpersuasive." Id. Importantly, of the "courts [that] have addressed First Amendment challenges to commercial-speech regulations since Reed, almost all of them have concluded that Reed does not disturb the Court's longstanding framework for commercial speech under Central Hudson." Mass. Ass'n of Private Career Schools v. Healey, 159 F. Supp. 3d 173, 192 (D. Mass. 2016) (citing cases).

The Court of Appeals properly determined that intermediate scrutiny applies to Washington's commercial speech restrictions.

D. Washington's Restrictions on Cannabis Advertising are Constitutional Under *Central Hudson*

Commercial speech restrictions are permissible if they pass the four-part *Central Hudson* test: (1) the speech concerns a lawful activity and is not misleading; (2) the government's interest is substantial; (3) the restriction directly and materially serves the asserted interest; and (4) the restriction is necessary. *Mattress Outlet*, 153 Wn.2d at 512. The Court of Appeals properly held that the challenged advertising restrictions satisfy all of these requirements. *Seattle Events*, Slip Op. 14-23.

There is no question that Washington has a substantial interest in protecting minors from the impacts of cannabis and

⁹ The Court of Appeals found that cannabis advertising by Washington cannabis licensees concerned lawful activity and is protected under article I, section 5. *Seattle Events*, Slip Op. 15-16.

cannabis advertising. Petitioners concede as much. Appellants' Opening Br. 17; Pet. at 31-32 (not challenging this holding).

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